
 

1 
 

Minutes of Special Meeting 
Auditor 

February 26, 2016 
1:30 p.m. 

 
The Kootenai County Board of Commissioners: Chairman Dan Green, Commissioner Marc Eberlein, and 
Commissioner David Stewart met to discuss the following agenda item. Also present were Clerk Jim 
Brannon, Chief Deputy Clerk Pat Raffee, Senior Staff Accountants Keith Taylor and  Kimberli Price, Staff 
Accountant Melissa Merrifield, Chief Deputy Prosecutor Barry Black, Civil Deputy Prosecuting Attorney 
R. David Ferguson and Deputy Clerk Cecilia Sweet. Also present were Kootenai County Fairgrounds 
Manager Dane Dugan, Fair Board Chairman Gerald Johnson and Fair Board member Dave Fair. 
 

A. Call to Order:  Chairman Dan Green called the meeting to order at 1:30 p.m. 
 
B. Introductions: There were no introductions. 
 
C. Changes to the Agenda:  There were no changes to the agenda. 
 
D. New Business: 
 

Meeting with Auditor’s office to discuss Fairgrounds financial processes, projects and 
procedures 
 
Clerk Jim Brannon gave an overview of the Auditor’s responsibilities regarding finances. 
He acknowledged and thanked Mr. Dugan for his written response to many of the 
concerns. Clerk Brannon said he wanted to take this opportunity to ask questions about 
Kootenai County Fairgrounds’ procedures and receive direction from the Board.  He 
added that unlike the Kootenai County Emergency Medical Services that had a County 
Commissioner on the Joint Powers Board, the Fair Board had no County representative. 
Clerk Brannon asked the following questions:  

 When were the 2015 findings discovered by Magnuson, McHugh & Company 

 What were the Fair Board’s corrective actions to make sure the financial 
statement properly reflected the payables 

 
Kootenai County Fairgrounds Manager Dane Dugan stated in December 2014 he had 
discussed with the Commissioners that the fairgrounds’ front entrance had gone over-
budget, and that the Fair Board had tapped into its Debt Reserves. He said when going 
into the 2015 audit, the Fair Board had outstanding bills that were not paid until the 
cash was available. He added the unpaid bills were brought to the attention of 
Magnuson, McHugh & Co. and he asked how to address these bills.  
 
Chairman Green asked why the payables were not listed on the financial statement, and 
if the Fair Board was on an accrual or a cash basis. Mr. Dugan responded that the Fair 
Board operated on an accrual basis and the fairgrounds lacked the necessary cash flow. 
 



 

2 
 

Chairman Green emphasized that all payables need to be listed, whether or not the cash 
flow was available, because this could be construed as a misrepresentation of the 
fairgrounds’ financial status. 
 
Clerk Brannon asked for clarity on Mr. Dugan’s responses for the Fairgrounds entrance; 
on a February 26, 2016 email, it was stated that the Fair Board raised nearly $135,000, 
yet at the December 15, 2014 Board meeting, the raised amount reported was 
$151,000. 
 
Mr. Dugan replied that the Fair Board had allocated approximately $17,000 for electrical 
and lighting needs, and the fundraising figures were split between two projects. 
 
Clerk Brannon asked if the fairgrounds payables were now $45,000. Mr. Dugan 
responded that the current payables were approximately $5,000, which he reported to 
the Fair Board. He offered to provide the monthly receivables and payables to the 
Auditor.  
 
Chairman Green asked Clerk Brannon why the Auditor thought the fairgrounds payables 
were $45,000. Mr. Brannon explained that 20% of the payables were solid waste fees, 
but the fairgrounds’ budget reflected the solid waste fees as only 1% of the payables. 
 
Mr. Dugan assured the Board the solid waste fees had been paid. He said he accepted 
full responsibility for a miscommunication, that he was told by fair staff that 4-H had 
paid the solid waste fees.  Mr. Dugan said he assumed the total amount due had been 
paid, and when he discovered only part had been paid by 4H, he arranged to pay the 
remainder as funds became available. 
 
Senior Staff Accountant Keith Taylor shared that there was a three to four month gap in 
solid waste payments. Mr. Taylor said the September 2015 bill was paid in January 2016, 
so the delay in paying the bill demonstrated more than a miscommunication. 
 
Chairman Green asked why there was such a long delay in paying the bill. Mr. Dugan 
responded this delay was because of miscomputation, an assumption that the fees were 
paid in full and the lack of cash flow. 
 
Chairman Green gave an overview of some of the concerns he had heard.  He said there 
had been an increase in revenue, but the fairgrounds went over budget on the entrance 
and needed the County Commissioners to allocate revenue to finish the project before 
the Fair opened, without the paved handicapped parking stalls being completed. He 
added there appeared to be a lack of prioritizing the essential projects.  He asked if the 
Fair Board shared these concerns and if there was a plan to correct these issues. 
 
Fair Board Chairman Gerald Johnson said the Fair Board did raise the expected amount 
for the front entrance, but the project went over-budget due to unanticipated 
infrastructure issues. He added that the Fair Board did address the paved handicapped 
parking stalls the following summer. He mentioned the Fair Board was aware of all of 
the projects, and they reviewed financial statements monthly. 
 



 

3 
 

Fair Board member Dave Fair said that balancing funds for staff, customers and vendor 
expenses meant a lot of variables. He said the Fair Board operated on enterprise funds, 
which meant there were cash flow issues.  Mr. Fair said when recommendations were 
made by Magnuson, McHugh & Co. the Fair Board would work on the needed changes. 
 
Chairman Green said there were concerns from Community Development and the Coeur 
d’Alene Fire Marshall that Fair projects were done without proper permits. 
  
Mr. Dugan assured the Board that all new projects had the proper permits, but before 
he was hired, some past projects were done without permits. He added that the Fair 
Board was at the mercy of sponsors’ and vendors’ payments, and half their total annual 
revenue was received in August. He said inclement weather and heavy smoke during 
last year’s Fair had a detrimental effect on revenue. 
 
Mr. Brannon quoted one of the Magnuson, McHugh & Co. audit findings as “during the 
audit engagement material adjustments were necessary to properly report accounts 
payables”, and he emphasized this was not a minor finding.  He asked if there were 
open capital projects due to recent wind damage.  He asked if the Fair Board was 
working with Idaho Counties Risk Management Program (ICRMP), or should these issues 
be managed by the Board of County Commissioners since it was the County’s land and 
buildings. 
 
Commissioner David Stewart agreed that the land and the buildings were County assets 
and therefore the County’s liabilities. He opined the County was the landlord and any 
capital projects should come before the Board of Commissioners. 
 
Clerk Brannon asked for direction from the Commissioners on which governing board 
would handle the ICRMP claim. 
 
Chairman Green asked if the ICRMP checks had been received by the County and if the 
Fair Board had received any reimbursements. Mr. Dugan responded that he had signed 
off on one reimbursement, but the vendors were paid directly, and Buildings & Grounds 
Director Shawn Riley and the ICRMP adjuster had handled the claim. 
 
Commissioner Stewart asked if the projects had gone through a bid process. Mr. Dugan 
replied all of the projects were done in house and did not go out to bid. 
 
Chairman Green discussed the autonomy of the Fair Board, and added that the County 
assumed the liability, and paid for the fairgrounds’ liability insurance, so there was a 
heightened concern that satisfactory progress was not made in areas of safety and 
compliance. 
 
Chief Deputy Clerk Pat Raffee offered internal auditors’ assistance to the Fair Board on 
procedural practices. Ms. Raffee discussed the year and a half pattern of untimely solid 
waste payments.  
 



 

4 
 

Mr. Fair stated the Fair Board was over-committed financially by having the new front 
entrance done before the 150 year dedication, and the operations budget should have 
been stabilized first. 
 
Commissioner Marc Eberlein suggested the Fair Board take advantage of the Clerk’s 
assistance on procedural practices, and to improve its financial tracking and reporting.  
 
Mr. Brannon asked if the Fair Board had a cash flow plan that covered personnel, 
operations and construction obligations.  He asked if the 2015 Magnuson, McHugh & 
Co. audit would be presented to the Board of County Commissioners. 
 
Ms. Raffee said that the Fair, being a component unit of government, raised questions 
of who the governing authority was:  the Board of County Commissioners or the Fair 
Board. 
 
Chief Deputy Prosecutor Barry Black opined that the Board of County Commissioners 
was the primary statutory authority and ultimately liable; and the Fair Board was a 
separate autonomous agency. Mr. Black added further legal research would be needed 
for a more detailed description.  
 
Chairman Green stated the Commissioners would request a more detailed description 
of the fairgrounds’ governing authorities from Legal, and submit a list of questions for 
further clarity. He added the Auditor’s internal audit team could offer assistance to 
improve the fairgrounds’ procedures and systems.  
 
Clerk Brannon also offered assistance with monitoring contracts, including conflicts of 
interest, meeting competitive bid laws, and obtaining Legal reviews.  
 
Mr. Dugan responded that he would be grateful for all assistance. 
 
Clerk Brannon requested the Commissioners’ direction to move forward. 
 
Chairman Green responded that it could be inappropriate for the Commissioners to 
instruct the Clerk’s office to take action with the Fair Board. He advised the Fair Board to 
take advantage of the Clerk’s offer of assistance. 
 
Commissioner Eberlein asked when the Auditor’s internal audit team could be available. 
Ms. Raffee replied the team could be available before this summer’s busy season at the 
fair.   
 
Mr. Eberlein suggested that questions from the Fair Board and the Clerk’s office could 
be addressed by Legal as well.  Mr. Black asked that all questions for Legal be submitted 
from one source.  Chairman Green instructed that all questions for Legal be submitted 
to the Commissioners within two weeks. 
 
 
 
 



 

5 
 

E. Public Comment: This section is reserved for citizens wishing to address the Board 
regarding a County related issue. Idaho Law prohibits Board action on items brought 
under this section except in an emergency circumstance. Comments related to future 
public hearings should be held for that public hearing. There were no public comments. 

 
Chairman Green adjourned the meeting at 2:19 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
JIM BRANNON, CLERK      DANIEL H. GREEN, CHAIRMAN 
 
BY: _______________________________   _______________________________ 
      Cecilia M. Sweet, Deputy Clerk 


